The Article – How to Translate
Особенности перевода артикля
Артикль в английском языке – это служебная часть речи, которая служит для выражения категории определенности / неопределенности.

Определенность означает, что предмет индивидуализирован, выделен из всех остальных предметов этого вида, а неопределенность представляет собой более общую ссылку на этот тип предметов в целом.

THE DEFINITE ARTICLE (THE)

Определенный артикль the произошел от указательного местоимения that, отсюда и его значение конкретности. Старое значение можно проследить в таких фразах, как at the (that) time, of the (that) kind.
Определенный артиклю используется как исчисляемыми, так и неисчисляемыми существительными в единственном и множественном числе.

1) для обозначения конкретного предмета/обекта
    The car stopped. Paul got out and stretched himself.

    Ann took up the telephone.

    We felt the smell of fallen leaves coming from the garden.

    I didn’t wish to betray the anxiety I felt.

2) для выражения родового понятия
    The cat was domesticated after the dog. (не любой, а как таковой, генетический код)

     The tractor replaced the horse.

     The whale is the largest animal.

     Before inventing the wheel …

     The tiger has always had the reputation of being a man-eater.

     The linguist is interested in the form and meaning of all possible statements in a 

      language.

     The aeroplane has made the world a small place.

     The violet is a lovely flower.

    НО: A (any) book makes a good present.

           A (any) flower is a beautiful decoration.

           A (any) passenger is allowed to take 20 kg of hand language free of charge.

           Now horses have been replaced by tractors.

           Flowers are always a beautiful decoration.

3) с некоторыми прилагательными: 
the right (тот, который нужен, правильный),  the wrong (не тот), the very (тот самый), the only (единственный), the main, the second, the fifth, the principal, the central, the left, the right, the same,     the coming (наступающий, приходящий), the following, the next, last, the present, the former (первый), the latter (последний), the so-called (так называемый),the  upper (верхний, высший),the  previous (предыдущий), the opposite (противоположный), the necessary, proper (надлежащий)

     It just seems to be the wrong way to go about it.

     My chief is the right man in the right place.

     The questions you ask are the very questions I’m putting myself.

     My mother was the only person whom I told what had happened.

     My relatives take a very grave view of the present situation.

     He invited Pete and Sam to the party: the former came in time, the latter – never appeared.

     We shall probably eat at the next table to him.

     My father had not read the last seven pages of the book.
     We shall be translating the article for the next 45 minutes.
   Обратите внимание!

I’m determined not to spend more than 10 pounds on my clothes next year.

     As it appeared she was not determined to spend more than pounds o her clothes the next year.

She said: “Where were you last night?”

    We had not been sitting long in the drawing room before Mr. March was arranging a timetable for the next day.

    I sent her a wire and she met me at the station next day.
   A friend of mine (his, hers, theirs, ours, yours) lives next door.

   She was as spoilt as if she were an only child. (But: She was the only child present in the drawing room.)

   Would you like a second cup of tea?

4) с неопределенными местоимениями other / the other; others / the others, another 

    Could I have another cup of tea?  (one more)

    “You can do as well as another man,” – he said. (any other)

    When I came back I found him in another mood.

    He spent another few weeks in London.

    He spend another five dollars on food.

    My mother needed me more than the other members of the family. (the rest)

    Her brothers, as a rule, could not make themselves good friends to other men. (другие)

    He drove with one hand and used the other to draw diagrams in the air.

    Then Katherine remembered about her mail: “The only letter I’ve opened is my husband’s. Lewis, will you fetch in the others?

    When people say they do not care what others think of them, for the most part they deceive themselves.’

5) с существительными, обозначающими местность , i.e. with reference to objects that surround the speaker or the participant of the actions. This usually refers to objects either indoors (e.g. the corner, the window, the table, the door, the wall, etc.) or outdoors (e.g. the stars, the street, the trees, the flowers, the houses, the leaves, the birds, the bees, etc.)

    As I came up our street, I saw my mother and my brother waving from the window.

   The late sun streamed across the kitchen, and a patch of light danced on the wall.

   The trees swayed to and fro under the grey sky.

   The gulls flew low over the barges.

6) с существительными, обнаруживаемыми в конкретном месте
    Let’s call the waiter, shall we?

    I couldn’t find my seat and asked the attendant to help me.

    Can I turn the radio off?

    I’ll put the kettle on and make you some tea.

7) с собирательными существительными для обозначения социальных групп и классов: 
the police, the proletariat, the peasantry, the bourgeoisie, the aristocracy, the nobility, the gentry, the clergy, the intelligentsia, the public, the Russians the Germans, the Italians, the Americans; the peasants, the workers, the Tories, the aristocrats, the Liberals, the Catholics.

    The Italians have given the world some first-class film producers.

But: Italians are musical people as a rule.

       The Italians I have met, all love opera.

    The Tories will not lift a finger to help the workers.

 But: Charles knew that his wife wrote articles for the paper and had friends among left-wing people and liberals.

9) с местоимением «all» (all the / all)
   All the people in the village liked the new doctor.

   All people are selfish.

10) в следующих устойчивых сочетаниях:

by the pound, by the kilo

11) в сравнительных конструкциях «чем … тем» (the sooner … the better)
     the more you love the more you are loved

     the less you give the less you get

THE INDEFINITE ARTICLE (A / AN)

Неопределенный артикль a произошел от числительного one, значение которого четко видно во фразах: not a word, a mile’s walk, a cup or two.

Неопределенный артикль в английском языке имеет два варианта – a и an. Если существительное начинается с согласного звука, то используется форма a, если с гласного – форма an.

Неопределенный артикль используется с исчисляемыми (She gave me a sweet smile) и неисчисляемыми существительными в единственном числе  (A dull burning anger rose in his chest).
1) a = one

    a) He gave her a cigarette and lighted it.

    There came a tap at the door, and a small elderly man entered the room,    

     wearing a black cap.

    b) a hundred, a thousand, a minute, a mile, etc.

    c) not a word, not a thought, not a trace
2) a = smth new (mentioned for the first time)

    a) He thinks he is a stupid fellow.

    b) The table was covered with a white cloth.

3) a = any

    A camel ca carry heavy loads.

4) в устойчивых выражениях, например: as a result, at a draught (залпом), etc.

THE ZERO ARTICLE
(значимое отсутствие артикля)
1) с существительными во множественном числе
    My mother gave me some pennies to buy apples or a magazine.

2) с неисчисляемыми существительными
    Last night I felt friendship and sympathy for Henry.

    The Place smelled of dust.
    Winterbourne asked for water and drank thirstily.

    Life goes on, changeless and ever changing.

3) man

      Surely he had suffered everything that man can endure.

      Woman is man’s helpmate.

4) в устойчивых выражениях, например:
at hand, by train, for fear of, to be in danger, etc.

Использование артикля в устойчивых выражениях
A:

As a result

As a rule

As a matter of fact

At a glance

At a distance of 5 km

In a hurry

in a low voice

in a whisper

in a mess

in a way

in a while in a rush

it is a shame (what a shame!)

it is a pity (what a pity!)

it is a pleasure 

once a year/week

to have a bath

to have a shower

to have a cold

to have a rest

to have a good time

to have a headache (a toothache, etc.)

to do a favour

The:

All the same

At the moment

By the way

In the afternoon/

evening/morning

In the singular

In the plural

In the past/in the future

In the middle

In the distance

In the original

Most of the …

On the whole

On the one hand/

on the other hand

On the safe side

The other day

The day after tomorrow

The wrong side

The right side

The only place

The same idea

The poor/the rich

The sick

The wounded

The unemployed

To tell the truth

To do the washing up

To do the shopping              (Но: to go shopping)

Zero Article:

At dinner/

(breakfast/supper)

For dinner/breakfast/supper

At first sight

At home

At midnight

At present

At work

By accident

By chance 

By mistake

From beginning to end 

from east to west

In future

In fact

Out of order

To be at home, school

To be in hospital

In bed

THE USE OF ARTICLE WITH GEOGRAPHICAL NAMES

ZERO

1. Continents, countries, cities, towns, villages:

Asia, South America, Central Africa, Great Britain, Ancient Greece;

But: the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the Republic of Belarus, the USA, the Netherlands (the Low Countries), the Cameroon, (the) Congo, the Sudan, the USSR, the Ukraine, the Tyrol, the Crimea, the Caucasus, the Hague.

2. Bays: 

Hudson Bay, Baffin Bay.

3. Peninsulas: 

Indo-China, Kamchatka;

But: the Balcan Peninsula, the Indo-China Peninsula.

4. Volcanoes, waterfalls:

Niagara fall, Vesuvius.

5. Streets, parks, squares:

Picadilly, Pobeda street, Hyde Park, Picadilly Circus;

But: The High Street, the Strand, the Gorki Park.

6. Universities, colleges, schools:  

London University, Trinity College;

But: the University of London, the University of Oxford.

7. Airports, railway stations:

London Airport, Victoria Station.

8. Separate buildings: 

Scotland Yard, Westminster Abbey, Buckingham Palace;
But: The Tower, the Old Bailey, the Royal Exchange.

THE

1. Oceans, seas, straits, channels, canals, rivers, lakes, deserts:

the Arctic (Ocean), the Mediterranean (Sea), the Bering Strait, the English Channel, the Panama Canal, the River Thames, the Nile, the Ontario, the Sahara, the Kara-cum; 

But: Lake Ontario, Lake Ladoga.

2. Mountain chains, groups of islands:

the Andes, the Alps, the Bermudas, the Bahamas;

But: Elbrus, Everest, Cuba, Cyprus, Madagascar.

3. Ships, boats:

The Titanic, The Queen Elisabeth.

4. Theatres, museums, picture galleries, concert halls, cinemas, clubs:

the Coliseum Theatre, the Opera House, the British Museum, the Hermitage, the Odeon.

5. Hotels: 

The Savoy, The Tourist Hotel.

6. Newspapers and magazines:

The Times, The Guardian.

7. Territories:

the Lake District, the Gomel Region, the Braslav Lakes.

8. Parts of the World: 

the South, the West, the East, the North, the North Pole, the South Pole. 

